Review

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Journal of Hazardous Materials



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jhazmat

Nanoscale zero-valent iron: Future prospects for an emerging water treatment technology

R.A. Crane, T.B. Scott*

Interface Analysis Centre, University of Bristol, 121 St. Michael's Hill, Bristol BS2 8BS, UK

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 14 June 2011 Received in revised form 20 November 2011 Accepted 21 November 2011 Available online 28 November 2011

Keywords: Zero-valent iron Metallic iron Nanoparticles Remediation Critical review Reactivity Functionality Ecotoxicity Cost

Contents

For the past 15 years, nanoscale metallic iron (nZVI) has been investigated as a new tool for the treatment of contaminated water and soil. The technology has reached commercial status in many countries worldwide, however is yet to gain universal acceptance. This review summarises our contemporary knowledge of nZVI aqueous corrosion, manufacture and deployment, along with methods to enhance particle reactivity, stability and subsurface mobility. Reasons for a lack of universal acceptance are also explored. Key factors include: concerns over the long-term fate, transformation and ecotoxicity of nZVI in environmental systems and, a lack of comparable studies for different nZVI materials and deployment strategies. It is highlighted that few investigations to date have examined systems directly analogous to the chemistry, biology and architecture of the terrestrial environment. Such emerging studies have highlighted new concerns, including the prospect for remobilisation of heavy metals and radionuclides over extended periods. The fundamental importance of being able to accurately predict the long-term physical, chemical and biological fate of contaminated sites following nZVI treatment is emphasised and, as part of this, a universal empirical testing framework for nZVI is suggested.

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Introc	duction	113				
1.1.	Engineered nanoparticles: a new tool for water treatment	113				
1.2.	The aqueous corrosion of iron	113				
1.3.	Environmental reactivity: metallic iron or iron oxide?	113				
1.4.	nZVI: a versatile material for water treatment	114				
NZVI	synthesis	114				
2.1.	How much does nZVI cost?	114				
	2.1.1. The thermal reduction of ferrous iron	115				
	2.1.2. Electrolysis	116				
	2.1.3. Polyphenolic plant extracts	116				
Is nZVI as good as some studies suggest?						
4. Operational drivers for water treatment						
4.1.	NZVI size	117				
4.2. Improving the aqueous mobility of nZVI						
	4.2.1. Surfactants	118				
	4.2.2. Polyelectrolyte coatings	118				
	4.2.3. Improving the mobility of nZVI for the remediation of non-aqueous phase liquids	118				
	4.2.4. Protective shells and solid supports	118				
4.3.	Improving reactivity; bimetallic nanoparticles	118				
	4.3.1. Will bimetallics prevail over monometallics?	119				
4.4.	Thermal treatments	119				
4.5.	NZVI injection strategy	119				
	Intro 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. 1.4. NZVI 2.1. Is nZ Oper 4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 4.4. 4.5.	Introduction 1.1. Engineered nanoparticles: a new tool for water treatment 1.2. The aqueous corrosion of iron 1.3. Environmental reactivity: metallic iron or iron oxide? 1.4. nZVI: a versatile material for water treatment NZVI synthesis				

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 117 3311176. E-mail address: T.B.Scott@bristol.ac.uk (T.B. Scott).

^{0304-3894/\$ -} see front matter © 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.11.073

	4.6. The environmental toxicology of nZVI	120
	4.6.1. nZVI in assisted natural remediation	121
5.	UK legislation	122
6.	A universal nZVI testing framework	122
	6.1. Standard testing parameters	122
	6.2. Universal NZVI reactivity test	122
7.	Conclusions	122
Acknowledgements		
	References	123

1. Introduction

1.1. Engineered nanoparticles: a new tool for water treatment

By virtue of their size, nanomaterials have been shown to possess distinctive chemical, catalytic, electronic, magnetic, mechanical and optical properties [1]. In a little over 15 years, the multidisciplinary nano 'boom' has led to the development of a wide array of novel technologies for both domestic and industrial applications; ranging from enhanced drug delivery to new methods for the treatment of contaminated water.

As particle size decreases, the proportion of atoms located at the surface increases, which raises its tendency to adsorb, interact and react with other atoms, molecules and complexes to achieve charge stabilisation. Additionally, their miniscule size allows nanoparticles to be incorporated within aqueous suspensions and behave as a colloid. Such unique properties have been shown as beneficial for a wide range of applications. For example, macroscale silver is considered chemically inert, but at the nanoscale, silver is used for a wide range of applications including antimicrobial sterilisation, solar energy absorption and as a catalyst for numerous chemical reactions [2]. Today, engineered nanomaterials are in many of the products that we use on a daily basis. The Woodrow Wilson nanotechnology consumer product inventory lists over 1000 everyday items [3]. For example, carbon nanotubes are used to enhance the strength of sports equipment and construction materials, titanium dioxide nanoparticles are used for "self cleaning" surfaces and enhanced UV protection, whilst nano-silicon is used to increase the speed and efficiency of computer processors [3].

As just one aspect of the global nano-revolution, the potential use of engineered nanomaterials for the treatment of polluted waters has sparked a great deal of interest. Compared to conventional macroscale materials, nanomaterials exhibit significant improvements in surface area as a function of mass. By using a smaller mass of material to achieve the same objective, both raw materials and energy can be theoretically conserved [4] with significant associated cost savings. Additionally (and significantly) their colloidal size allows subsurface deployment via injection with the rapid treatment of aqueous contaminants at almost any location and depth in terrestrial groundwater systems.

Conceptually, the key properties required for the use of any engineered nanoparticle for in situ remediation of polluted groundwater are: (i) high reactivity for contaminant removal; (ii) sufficient mobility within porous media; (iii) sufficient reactive longevity; and (iv) low toxicity. These properties are operational drivers but at the same time the material must be manufactured and deployed at a cost that is competitive with other existing technologies. Not many engineered nanoparticles fulfil the above mentioned requirements. For example, silver nanoparticles are well recognised for their reactivity with aqueous contaminants and also their stability as colloidal suspensions [2]. However, for groundwater remediation, the material's expense for kilogram quantities, in addition to the well recognised environmental toxicity issues, precludes their use [5]. Due to its cheap cost, environmental compatibility and high reactivity, the most widely studied nanomaterial for water treatment is metallic iron (hereafter referred to as nZVI) [6].

1.2. The aqueous corrosion of iron

From a simple perspective, corrosion is the degradation of a material caused by the environment in which it resides. The manufacture of all metals from oxide requires an input of energy and as a result the material has a strong thermodynamic driving force to return to its native low-energy state. This process of reversion is most commonly referred to as corrosion; an inevitable process but one which may be controlled using various methods. Metallic iron (Fe⁰), also referred to as zero-valent iron, is well recognised as being highly susceptible to corrosion in aqueous media. Its corrosion is considered to occur primarily through an electrochemical process, with anodic and cathodic components. The anodic reaction involves the dissolution of Fe⁰ (forming soluble ionic products or insoluble oxide/hydroxide) and is coupled with reduction of redox amenable species at the cathode. In natural waters, the primary components available for corrosion reactions are dissolved oxygen (DO) and water, with the former being thermodynamically favoured (Eqs. (1) and (2)).

 $2Fe^{0}_{(s)} + 4H^{+}_{(aq)} + O_{2(aq)} \rightarrow 2Fe^{2+} + 2H_2O_{(l)} \quad E^{0} = +1.67V \quad (1)$

$$2Fe^{0}_{(s)} + 2H_2O_{(l)} \rightarrow 2Fe^{2+} + H_{2(g)} + 2OH^{-}_{(aq)} \quad E^{0} = -0.39V \quad (2)$$

Ferrous iron (Fe^{2+}) is a primary product from these reactions and, in turn, can undergo further oxidative transformation (Eqs. (3) and (4)).

$$2Fe^{2+}{}_{(s)} + 2H^{+}{}_{(aq)} + \frac{1}{2}O_{2(aq)} \rightarrow 2Fe^{3+} + H_2O_{(l)} \quad E^0 = +0.46 \, V \quad (3)$$

$$2Fe^{2+}{}_{(s)} + 2H_2O_{(l)} \rightarrow 2Fe^{3+} + H_{2(g)} + 2OH^{-}{}_{(aq)} \quad E^0 = -1.60 \, \text{V} \quad (4)$$

Implicit in the above reactions is an increase of solution pH as either protons are consumed or hydroxyl ions are produced. This is commonly observed during the early stages of laboratory-scale nZVI aqueous reaction experiments. Similarly, due to the high reactive surface area of nZVI (up to $100 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$), when a significant mass of material is added to an aqueous system, chemically reducing conditions can be very rapidly achieved through the production of H₂ (Eqs. (2) and (4)); inducing local conditions far from equilibrium and favourable for contaminant removal.

1.3. Environmental reactivity: metallic iron or iron oxide?

During aqueous corrosion both Fe^0 and Fe^{2+} are an active source of $Fe^{3+}_{(aq)}$, H_2 and various precipitates such as $Fe(OH)_2$, $Fe(OH)_3$, Fe_3O_4 , Fe_2O_3 , FeOOH, Fe_5HO_8 · $4H_2O$ and green rusts. It is these corrosion reactions and the product(s) thereof which are responsible for the reductive transformation and/or physical removal (sorption or enmeshment) of exposed chemical species. As surface precipitated iron oxide/hydroxide is initially porous, the material can develop a "core–shell" structure during the early stages of reaction with both sorption (at the oxide/hydroxide) and chemical reduction (at the metallic iron oxide/hydroxide interface) able to occur

Table 1 Calculated cell potential (E^0 Cell (V)) using the Nernst equation for iron-contaminant metal systems, where Fe⁰ is considered the anode material. E^{mx1} Cell (V) and E^{mx2} Cell (V) represent excess Fe²⁺(aq) with respect to the other aqueous metal at molar ratios of 100:1 and 10,000:1 respectively.

Redox couple	E^0 Cell (V)	E^{mx1} Cell (V)	E ^{mx2} Cell (V)	Predominant removal mechanism using Fe ⁰	Eq.
$Fe^0 + Zn^{2+} \rightarrow Zn^0 + Fe^{2+}$	-0.35	-0.29	-0.23	Sorption/surface complexation	(5)
$Cd^{2+} + Fe^0 \rightarrow Cd^0 + Fe^{2+}$	0.01	0.07	0.13	Sorption/surface complexation	(6)
$Pb^{2+} + Fe^0 \rightarrow Pb^0 + Fe^{2+}$	0.28	0.34	0.39	Sorption with partial chemical reduction	(7)
Ni^{2+} + $Fe^0 \rightarrow Ni^0$ + Fe^{2+}	0.17	0.23	0.29	Sorption with partial chemical reduction	(8)
Hg^{2+} + $Fe^0 \rightarrow Hg^0$ + Fe^{2+}	0.68	0.74	0.80	Reductive precipitation	(9)
$\mathrm{Cu}^{2+} + \mathrm{Fe}^0 \rightarrow \mathrm{Cu}^0 + \mathrm{Fe}^{2+}$	0.78	0.81	0.87	Reductive precipitation	(10)

simultaneously. However, as the reaction progresses, increasing quantities of corrosion product(s) and a commensurate lowering in the material's porosity can significantly limit direct Fe^0-H_2O/O_2 and Fe^0 -contaminant interactions [7]. It should also be noted at this stage that because the kinetics of the initial stages of Fe^0 oxidation are so rapid, corrosion will proceed even in extremely controlled conditions. Consequently, Fe^0 that is introduced to an environmental system (whether as granular or nZVI) will already have a film of surface oxide acquired directly after synthesis. Therefore, from the outset, it should be understood that although this nanomaterial is referred to as being metallic, each particle exists in natural conditions with a thin but encapsulating layer of surface oxide [8,9].

1.4. nZVI: a versatile material for water treatment

Building on original work by Glavee et al. [10], nZVI was first tested for contaminated water treatment by Wang and Zhang at Lehigh University, USA, [11]. Since then nZVI has been proven as highly effective for the removal/degradation of a wide range of chemical pollutants, including: B-lactam and nitroimidazolebased antibiotics [12,13]; azo dyes [14,15]; chlorinated solvents [11,16–18]; chlorinated pesticides [19–22]; organophosphates [23]; nitroamines [24]; nitroaromatics [17,25,26]; p-chlorophenol [27]; polybrominated diphenyl ethers [28,29]; polychlorinated biphenyls [11,30]; inorganic anions, including nitrate [31,32], and perchlorate [33]; alkaline earth metals, including barium [34] and beryllium [35]; transition metals, including chromium [35-38], cobalt [39], copper [35,38,40,41], lead [37,40], molybdenum [38], nickel [35,40], silver [40], technetium [42] and vanadium [35]; post-transition metals, including zinc [35,40] and cadmium [35,40]; metalloids, including arsenic [35,43–46], selenium [47]; and actinides, including uranium [8,35,37,48-50] and plutonium [51]. Due to the significant variation in contaminant chemistry, numerous possible contaminant removal pathways have been determined, including sorption, complexation, (co)precipitation and surface mediated chemical reduction (Table 1) [52].

As suggested by Li and Zhang [40], for metal ions such as Cd²⁺ and Zn^{2+} which have standard electrode potentials (E^0) for reduction to a metallic state that are very close to, or more negative than, Fe^0 (-0.41 V), the removal mechanism by nZVI is occurs predominantly via sorption/surface complexation. In comparison, with metal ions such as Hg^{2+} and Cu^{2+} , which have E^0 much more positive than Fe⁰, removal occurs predominantly via surface mediated reductive precipitation. Where metal cations are only slightly more electropositive than iron, such as Ni²⁺ and Pb²⁺, sorption, with partial chemical reduction, has been shown to occur. It is recognised, however, that aqueous nZVI treatment systems do not exist at standard conditions and consequently the above comparison of potentials is somewhat invalidated. Instead the Nernst equation may be used to relate standard cell potentials to those actually existing. As displayed in Table 1, the presence of a significant molar excess of aqueous Fe²⁺ derived from the rapid anodic dissolution of the nZVI can significantly alter the cell potential from the standard value (due to alteration of the thermodynamic reaction quotient), making contaminant reduction reactions more favourable.

The most recognised mechanism by which Fe⁰ and Fe²⁺ solid materials remove contaminants from groundwater is via chemical reduction, and typically requires the contaminant to be adsorbed or in close proximity (electronic range) of the iron surface. For the treatment of organic contaminants, such as chlorinated organics and polychlorinated biphenyls, removal generally occurs via the reductive degradation of the chemical, i.e. the contaminant is physically destroyed. In comparison, for the treatment of many heavy metals and radionuclides removal typically occurs via immobilisation. Contaminants are merely removed from the water and trapped in an immobile state without physical destruction. For in situ remediation of heavy metals and radionuclides it is therefore significant to note that, as recovery of the injected nanomaterials (with associated contaminants) is unfeasible, contaminants are neither destroyed nor extracted from the system. This presents the prospect for future contaminant remobilisation should geochemical conditions change. Considering the significant geochemical perturbation caused by nZVI injection, subsurface treatment zones are often highly metastable, and even a gradual reversion in groundwater conditions toward a pre-injection state may be enough for significant remobilisation to occur. This is a key issue which may limit the development of the technology and is discussed in Section 3.

2. NZVI synthesis

To date, numerous methods have been developed for the manufacture of metallic nanoparticles, including chemical vapour deposition, inert gas condensation, pulsed laser ablation, spark discharge generation, sputtering gas-aggregation, thermal decomposition, thermal reduction of oxide compounds, hydrogenation of metallic complexes and the aqueous reduction of iron salts. These manufacturing methods can be considered as either "bottom up" or "top down" approaches. The former involves physical or chemical methods to construct a nanomaterial from basic building blocks, such as atoms or molecules. The latter involves physical or chemical methods to breakdown or restructure a bulk material to the nanoscale. Fig. 1 highlights the differences in particle morphology obtained by different manufacturing routes.

With the manufacture of gram-quantity nZVI achieved using simple chemical reagents and minimal specialist lab equipment, the borohydride reduction of ferrous salts is the most widely studied method within academia (Fig. 1A) [11]. The method produces highly reactive nZVI; however, the nanoparticles are often highly polydispersed, ranging over tens to hundreds of nanometres in size and thus significantly prone to agglomeration [9,56,57]. Expensive reagents and the production of large volumes of hydrogen gas also preclude its industrial application [54].

2.1. How much does nZVI cost?

Although iron is inexpensive in bulk form, reactive nanoparticles are much more expensive because of the materials and processes needed to make them. Additional to this, site remediation is an unwanted (and often unplanned) financial burden and as such



Fig. 1. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images of different iron nanoparticles manufactured or purchased by the authors for this review. (A) nZVI synthesised by the reduction of aqueous Fe²⁺ using sodium borohydride [11]; (B) nanoscale magnetite, purchased from Sigma–Aldrich (PubChem Substance ID: 24882829) [8]; (C) NANOFER STAR, purchased from NANO IRON, s.r.o. [53]; (D) nZVI synthesised by the carbothermal reduction of aqueous Fe²⁺ [54]; (E) nZVI synthesised by the reduction of aqueous Fe²⁺ using green tea polyphenols [55]; and (F) nZVI synthesised by the reduction of aqueous Fe²⁺ using sodium borohydride then annealed under vacuum (at least 10⁻⁶ mbar) at 500 °C for 24 h [9].

environmental technologies typically exhibit a relatively low market value [58]. In 2004 the price for nZVI varied between £15 and £100 per kg, whilst micro and granular Fe⁰ were available for less than £1 per kg [59]. Depending on the type and amount ordered nZVI today costs in the range of £50–150 per kg. In order to compete against existing water treatment methods, such as in situ chemical oxidation, the price of nZVI must reduce to approximately <£10 per kg [60]. Consequently, in recent years there has been much investigation into the development of methods to produce cheap multi-kilogram quantities of nZVI, whilst maintaining reactivity and/or functionality.

In 2006, Toda Kogyo Ltd. developed a method that uses hydrogen as a reducing agent for iron oxide nanoparticles at 350–600 °C [61]. Although the process is scalable and has reached commercial status it involves a number of chemical processing steps to synthesise the oxide nanoparticles and then reduce them in a batch process. In recent years, the market leader for large-scale field deployment of nZVI has arguably been Golder Associates Inc., who produce nZVI in large quantities by the mechanical attrition of macroscale Fe⁰ in planetary ball mill systems [62]. Whilst it is a straight forward method, it is highly energy intensive; and newly formed particles exhibit a very high surface energy and are thus prone to aggregation.

2.1.1. The thermal reduction of ferrous iron

The carbothermal reduction of ferrous iron has recently been investigated as a potential method for the manufacture of cheap and functional nZVI (Fig. 1D). Analogous to the production of iron and steel from ore, the method regards the use of thermal energy and gaseous reducing agents (H_2 , CO_2 , CO, etc.) produced during the thermal decomposition of carbon-based materials (carbon black, carbon nanoparticles, hollow carbon, ultra-fine graphite powder, etc.) to drive the reduction of iron oxide nanoparticles [63] or aqueous Fe²⁺ [54]. With high surface area carbon an extremely cheap and readily available material (e.g. carbon black is a waste product from the fossil fuel industry), both methods represent cheap methods for the manufacture of various different nZVI physicochemical forms. Additional to this, despite the high temperatures (>500 °C) required for the formation of Fe⁰ in preference to its oxides, the reaction is endothermic, with only gaseous by-products, and therefore represents a scalable process.

2.1.2. Electrolysis

As a well-established industrial method for the sequestration of metals from ionic solution, electrolysis has recently been investigated for nZVI synthesis. Requiring only: Fe²⁺ salt solution, a conductive substrate, a direct current and a method to disperse electro-deposited nanoparticles, the method represents an extremely simple, cheap and quick method for the production of nZVI. The only issue is determining appropriate methods for the dispersion of newly formed metallic nanoparticles at the cathode. Recent attempts include Chen et al. using ultrasonication [64], and Wang et al., 2008 using ion-exchange in nafion film [65], represent highly promising methods.

2.1.3. Polyphenolic plant extracts

Perhaps the most environmentally compatible process developed so far for the synthesis of nZVI is the reduction of Fe^{2+} using polyphenolic plant extracts (Fig. 1E). This method, developed by scientists at VeruTEK and the US EPA involves the preparation of a polyphenolic solution by heating specific plant extracts (coffee, green tea, lemon balm, sorghum bran, etc.) in water to near-boiling temperature, extracting the supernatant and mixing it with a Fe^{2+} solution [55]. The method has also been shown as possible at ambient temperature, allowing the potential for nZVI synthesis in situ and eliminating the need for offsite manufacture, storage and transport. Primarily developed as an in situ soil catalyst to improve the performance of in situ chemical oxidation, the process is yet to be tailored to synthesise nZVI that can be used for water treatment as a chemical reducing agent.

3. Is nZVI as good as some studies suggest?

With nZVI proven as highly effective for the removal of a wide range of contaminant species from simple synthetic solutions, subsequent work has focussed on determining the material's performance for the treatment of chemically complex and/or "real" solutions. It has been outlined that some previous studies using 'simple solution' tests, lacking complexing agents and/or competitive chemical reactions, have largely overestimated nZVI performance [8,48,50,66]. This is also evidenced by the limited number of field studies that have reported poorer than expected nZVI performance, with an unexpected need to provide multiple treatments to attain successful clean-up [67,68].

This behaviour was clearly demonstrated in a recent study [8], where nZVI were tested for the removal of U from groundwater samples containing high concentrations of dissolved bicarbonate, in comparison to a laboratory synthetic water system. The nZVI were observed as highly effective for the rapid removal of U from the groundwater despite their complex chemistry and provided a comparable performance to the simple U-only water system. However, over extended time periods (>1 week) near-total re-release of U was recorded from the groundwater system, which was not observed in the simple U-only system over the entire three month treatment period, Fig. 2.

The mechanism was attributed to incomplete chemical reduction of surface-precipitated U (from soluble U^{VI} to insoluble U^{IV}) within the groundwater samples, allowing the re-release of U^{VI} during nanoparticle corrosion [8,69,70] and the reformation of highly stable (nominally carbonate) aqueous U-complexes. Taking uranium as an example, Table 2 shows the significantly enhanced



Fig. 2. The removal of aqueous uranium from groundwater and Mill-Q water using nZVI at 0.25 g L^{-1} over a 3 month time period [8].

aqueous stability of U^{6+} in the presence of certain complexing agents which are common in natural waters.

A typical groundwater in the vadose zone has a CO₂ pressure of 10^{-2} bar which is elevated with respect to rivers and other surface waters ($10^{-3.8}$ bar) [73]. For uranium, the presence of CO₂ and also bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) in water promotes the formation of uranyl-carbonate complexes UO₂CO₃ (pH 3–5), UO₂(CO₃)₂²⁻ (pH 5–8) and UO₂(CO₃)₃⁴⁻ (pH > 8) in favour of uranyl-hydrate complexes, which have lower thermodynamic stability. This is recognised to have a profound effect on the adsorption behaviour and commensurate mobility of dissolved uranium in its hexavalent state and thus its affinity for remediation [8,69,70].

As studies to date have largely overlooked the influence of complexing agents ubiquitous to natural waters, more empirical tests are required to characterise the extent at which other heavy metals and radionuclides will display the same remobilisation trend. An obvious mitigation strategy in field applications would be to either: (i) deploy a mass of nZVI significantly in excess of that required; or (ii) to resupply the contaminated zone with nZVI on a regular basis. Both strategies have been reported in field trials as ways to improve efficacy, but likely have not been fully understood from a geochemical perspective. There accordingly exists a fundamental future need to examine the reversible nature of remediation in complex and/or natural waters using nZVI. This will provide validation of the technology for sites where assurance of medium to long-term immobilisation of contaminant heavy metal and radionuclides is required.

4. Operational drivers for water treatment

The structure, geochemistry and hydrogeology of each polluted site is unique. Resultantly the strategy adopted for nZVI deployment must take into account various operational parameters.

Table 2

Stability constants of aqueous U^{6+} in the presence and absence of certain complexing agents found in environmental waters.

Association reaction	Log K	Eq.
$UO_2^{2+} + CO_3^{2-} = UO_2CO_3$	9.68 ^a	(11)
$UO_2^{2+} + 2CO_3^{2-} = UO_2(CO_3)_2^{2-}$	16.94 ^a	(12)
$UO_2^{2+} + 3CO_3^{2-} = UO_2(CO_3)_3^{4-}$	21.60 ^a	(13)
$UO_2^{2+} + PO_4^{3-} = UO_2PO_4^{-}$	13.23 ^a	(14)
$UO_2^{2+} + SO_4^{2-} = UO_2SO_4$	3.15 ^a	(15)
$UO_2^{2+} + H_2O = UO_2OH^+ + H^+$	-5.2 ^b	(16)
$UO_2^{2+} + 2H_2O = UO_2(OH)_2 + 2H^+$	-12.0 ^b	(17)
$UO_2^{2+} + 3H_2O = UO_2(OH)_3^{-} + 3H^{+}$	-19.2 ^b	(18)

^a Grenthe et al. [71].

^b Langmuir [72]



Fig. 3. Metallic iron content (%) and surface area $(m^2 g^{-1})$ calculated as a function of nanoparticle diameter. Both variables are calculated for perfectly spherical nanoparticles and are therefore not intended to directly represent empirical data. Metallic iron (%) assumes a surface oxide thickness of 3 nm, independent of nanoparticle diameter. Surface area $(m^2 g^{-1})$ assumes perfectly dispersed nanoparticles, and therefore does not include changes in surface area due to nanoparticulate agglomeration/aggregation.

Variables that may be altered to optimise nZVI performance include the particle size range (Section 4.1), mobility (Section 4.2), reactivity and longevity (Sections 4.3 and 4.4), injection strategy (Section 4.5) and the material's ecotoxicity (Section 4.6).

4.1. NZVI size

It is logical to suggest that by providing the highest surface area for reaction, the very smallest nZVI would provide the best performance for contaminant removal. However, there exists the possibility that at this size range (<20 nm) the resultant particles are too reactive to be useful for in situ environmental applications, with reactive exhaustion likely to be achieved in a very short timescale. Indeed, for achieving optimal nZVI performance at any given site, it should be acknowledged that there is a conceptual play-off between the reactivity and longevity of the material. Particles of sufficient size must be selected to guarantee in situ reactivity and avoid reactive exhaustion during storage, transit and subsurface deployment.

When considering the reactive capacity of nZVI, an additional factor to acknowledge is the proportion of the particle which is oxide compared to Fe⁰, as a function of particle size. Assuming an oxide thickness independent of nanoparticulate size, in some circumstances it may account for significantly more of the volumetric fraction than Fe⁰. For example, a spherical nZVI particle of 25 nm total diameter with a surface oxide 3 nm thick would be 56% oxide by volume, Fig. 3. Consequently, in typical conditions the smaller the particle the higher the volume of constituent oxide, implying that at very small nano-size (<10 nm) Fe⁰ may only represent a small fraction of total nanoparticulate volume.

4.2. Improving the aqueous mobility of nZVI

There is abundant evidence and now a broad consensus that the mobility of nZVI in porous media is very limited under almost all conditions; see [74] and references therein. Without the application of surface coatings to aid colloidal stability, rapid aqueous aggregation of standard nZVI is frequently observed. Indeed, early pilot scale field trials have indicated extremely poor nZVI subsurface migration, with maximum practical transport distances of only a few metres reported for bare unsupported particles in saturated sediments [74]. Particle aggregation and pore clogging were determined as the causal mechanism, with the very limited mobility of nZVI explained by three primary mechanisms:



Fig. 4. A backscattered electron microscopy image of unmodified nZVI in Milli-Q water buffered to pH 7.

(i) particle aggregation and subsequent gelation caused by poor colloidal stability; (ii) the formation of voluminous corrosion product precipitates from particle oxidation/corrosion; and (iii) particle removal from solution by interaction with subsurface components, e.g. attachment to mineral surfaces and carbonaceous materials or via microbial removal. See [75–77], and references therein for a more comprehensive review.

An illustrative example of rapid aqueous aggregation is evidenced in Fig. 4 which displays a backscattered electron microscopy image taken of unmodified nZVI in Milli-Q water buffered at pH 7. The image was taken using a Quanto-mix capsule to hold the fluid suspension.

In groundwaters, it is certain that the interaction of injected nZVI with mineral surfaces will be continual. Particle collisions with these immobile subsurface components are estimated to occur on the order of hundreds per metre travelled [78]. Thus, for particles to be effectively transported nearly all of these collisions must be unsuccessful, i.e. the "sticking probability" must be very low. Consequently, the key to improving particle mobility is found in modifying their surface properties such that the nZVI have significantly improved colloidal stability and an associated reduction in the likelihood of adherence to mineral surfaces. Yet the challenge with any nZVI modification is to simultaneously maintain the material's reactive performance. An alternative method to improve the material's mobility without changing its surface properties is to increase the particle size. The consensus within the industry is that, depending on the permeability of the soil, particles within the size range of $0.1-2 \,\mu m$ have the highest mobility [60,79]. An additional advantage of using such particle size fractions is that any nano eco-toxicological issues are precluded. Additional to this, larger particle size fractions (>0.5 μ m) can be handled as powder (rather than as slurry), reducing the material's volume and thus improving material handling. Large-scale field tests are planned at the VEGAS research facility to investigate this [60]. Accompanying this, fundamental investigations into the extent at which an increase in particle size affects the material's reactivity, functionality and contaminant removal efficacy are required.

4.2.1. Surfactants

It is well accepted that particle mobility may be improved through the use of surfactant and other polymer coatings. Work first carried out in the 1960s based on ferrofluids [79] applicable for magnetics, optics, biophysics, medicine, rheology and even thermodynamics has since provided the basis for current nZVI coating technologies. Ferrofluids are classified as stabilised colloidal mixtures of magnetic nanoparticles suspended in a carrier fluid that become strongly polarised in the presence of a magnetic field. Particle stabilisation is achieved through the use of surfactants, polymeric surface coatings and chemicals to control the surface particle charge.

Applied to nZVI, the steric hindrances provided by such coating molecules counteract the electrical and dipolar attractions between particles and promote colloidal stability. This is only achieved when a sufficient mass of coating material or surfactant is present to form a complete micelle. Resultantly, the use of surfactants in nZVI injection technology has limited environmental applicability because, following injection, particle dispersion will be commensurate with rapid desorption of the surfactant into the groundwater, effectively losing any previously imbued particle stability.

4.2.2. Polyelectrolyte coatings

As an alternative to surfactants, the controlled coating of nZVI with high molecular weight polymers may be considered an irreversible process and therefore provides a more appropriate method for increasing the hydraulic mobility of nZVI in subsurface systems. Working in the same way as surfactants to promote colloidal stability (steric hindrances) the polymer is physically or chemically grafted to the nanoparticle surface [80]. An additional benefit is that the polymer coatings may also act as an energy source to stimulate microbial activity, which may aid contaminant removal particularly in carbon limited environments [81].

Numerous polyelectrolyte (polymer) coatings have been tested with varying success, including butyl methacrylate [82], caboxymethyl cellulose [66] and [83], guar gum [84], poly(4-styrenesulphonate) [85], polyacrylic acid [74], polyaspartate [83,86], polyoxyethylene sorbitan monolaurate [46], polymethylmethacrylate [82], polymethacrylic acid [82], polystyrene sulphonate [83], polyvinyl alcohol-co-vinyl acetate-co-itaconic [87], triblock copolymers [88], and xanthan gum [89]. Over a broad range of groundwater conditions these types of coatings are observed to persist for periods of several months [81].

Two commonly studied materials are carboxymethyl cellulose and guar gum. Formed from cellulose and guar beans respectively, both polysaccharides are extremely cheap, non-toxic, natural water-soluble and biodegradable. In water, both species are non-ionic and hydrocolloidal, remaining neutrally charged and unaffected by ionic strength or pH across an environmentally relevant range (pH 5–9) [66,84]. It seems likely that other approaches for improving colloidal stability of nZVI will arise in the future based upon exploiting the plethora of cheaply available biopolymers, improving on production cost, functionality and environmental compatibility. Biopolymers such as alginate and potato starch have already been examined and proven as unsuccessful [84], but other more successful candidates may well arise in the near future.

4.2.3. Improving the mobility of nZVI for the remediation of non-aqueous phase liquids

Researchers at the Kennedy Space Center (NASA) and the University of Central Florida have recently developed a new method

for the treatment of non-aqueous phase liquids (NAPL) called "emulsified nZVI" (E-nZVI) [90]. It is one of only a few methods invented which can be used for effective in situ treatment of a dense non-aqueous phase liquid (DNAPL) plume. E-nZVI is comprised of an agglomerate of nZVI particles packed into a droplet surrounded by surfactant and oil layer which forms an oil-liquid membrane. The hydrophobic membrane allows the DNAPL to diffuse through, whereupon it undergoes reductive dechlorination by the E-nZVI in the aqueous phase. The protective membrane also allows the E-nZVI to: move through the subsurface as a DNAPL, therefore improving its chances for DNAPL exposure; and operate in sites of high dissolved oxygen and/or salinity, with iron particles inside the membrane protected from corrosion. Encapsulating the nZVI in a hydrophobic membrane also protects the material from reactions with unwanted groundwater constituents such as inorganics that might otherwise act to decrease its reactive capacity. Additional methods include the use of triblock copolymers [88], and a range of surfactants and biodegradable non-polar oils [91-94].

4.2.4. Protective shells and solid supports

The use of protective shells, originally designed for magnetic applications including data storage [95,96], drug-delivery [97], medical imaging [98] and protein purification [99], has also received interest with regard to improving the hydraulic mobility and longevity of nZVI. Coatings tested include silica [100], polymers [101] and carbon [54,102], and have been observed to improve nZVI stability to a level comparable with polyelectrolyte coatings. Due to its high stability in acidic or basic media and proven biocompatibility, the use of carbon has typically been preferred.

The use of solid supports has also been tested. A method developed by scientists at the Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research in Germany [103] has combined iron nanoparticles with activated carbon to produce "Carbo-Iron" platelets of between 50 and 200 nm diameter. The combined NAPL sorbent properties of the activated carbon with the reductive capacity of the Fe⁰ has proven very promising for the reduction of a range of chlorinated organics whilst also exhibiting hydraulic mobility comparable to surfactants and polyelectrolyte coatings.

4.3. Improving reactivity; bimetallic nanoparticles

A well documented method for increasing the chemical reactivity of nZVI has been to alloy it with a nobler metal (Pd, Pt, Ag, Ni, Cu, etc.). In recent years numerous experimental studies of bimetallic nZVI for contaminant remediation have been made, including Fe/Pd [68,104,16,105-107], Fe/Pt, [104], Fe/Ag [108] and Fe/Ni [104,109–112]. In such electrochemical couples, Fe⁰ is considered to behave as an anode, becoming sacrificially oxidised to galvanically protect the noble metal. Experiments have yielded varying results for particle performance, with Fe-Pd generally outperforming the other combinations. Chemical reduction of sorbed contaminants at the bimetallic nZVI surface is considered to occur through either direct electron transfer with the noble metal or through reaction with hydrogen produced by oxidation of Fe⁰. Hydrogen is likely present as a dissolved gas, some of which is adsorbed to the particle surfaces, with an undetermined fraction possibly present as active metal hydride having undergone diatomic dissociation and reaction with the exposed noble metal [104].

For the clean-up of chlorinated organic contaminants such as TCE or PCP, hydrogen is observed to be the predominant driver for degradation, by breaking C–Cl bonds and swapping itself for chlorine, which is liberated as a gas [109]. For bimetallic nZVI, an advantageous consequence of the inferred catalysis is that dichloroethelyenes (DCE) and vinyl chloride (VC), which are generated by TCE breakdown, are observed to be rapidly hydrogenated at the particle surfaces and do not accumulate in the reaction [109]. By comparison, TCE reduction has been recorded as significantly limited by monometallic nZVI [109,112], with the accumulation of DCE and VCs often observed [18,113]. This occurs because direct reduction of water by Fe⁰ proceeds more slowly without a galvanic influence and resultantly the hydrogenolysis of the contaminant specie is limited.

4.3.1. Will bimetallics prevail over monometallics?

In the US, approximately 40% of all nZVI remediation projects use bimetallic nZVI (approximately 50% use standard nZVI) whilst in Europe no field application using bimetallic particles is yet to take place [60]. For the commercial deployment of bimetallic nZVI, two unavoidable facts are that: (i) they will only be adopted in preference to monometallic nZVI if they offer significantly improved performance at a competitive price (high value metals such as Pt, Pd and Ag are likely to prove too costly); and (ii) there are still considerable concerns over the ecotoxicity of some of the noble metals chosen for alloying. For example, Ni is considered a hazardous substance by the UK Environment Agency [114].

Within bimetallic nZVI systems, efficiency of the cathodic reaction is found to determine the particle corrosion rate. If the rate is high, contaminant reactivity will also be high but reactive longevity will be poor. Consequently, it is suggested that, bimetallic nZVI is generally best suited for remediation applications where only short migration times to the contaminant plume are required. It is apparent from the literature that bimetallic nZVI reactivity this depends on a range of factors, including nanoparticle size, physicochemistry, and the choice and quantity (%) of the noble metal. Some studies have documented minimal improvement with respect to their monometallic counterpart, [50] whilst others report an enhancement by several orders of magnitude [110]. There is a resultant need for fundamental characterisation and quantification of the reactivity of different bimetallic nZVI materials, Section 6.

4.4. Thermal treatments

Recent attempts to improve the physico-chemical structure of nZVI without the use of alloying or dopant materials (and their aforementioned disadvantages) have examined the use of thermal treatments in vacuo.

It is well established that a wide variety of nZVI synthesis methods, including the most common method, the borohydride reduction of Fe²⁺, are observed to result in the formation of significant physicochemical imperfections within the forming crystal lattices, within both the bulk metal and the surface oxide layer [9]. This is seen to significantly alter particle reactivity [8,9,48,50,115,116]. As a consequence, thermal treatment (or annealing), a process commonly used in metallurgy to relieve internal stress, refine grain structure and produce equilibrium conditions within a metal has been considered as an appropriate method to improve the physicochemical composition of nZVI [8,9,48,50].

Vacuum annealing of nZVI at 500 °C at less than 10^{-5} mbar for 24 h is observed to result in numerous physicochemical effects on nZVI structure [9]. Changes include a reduction in surface area by up to 75% (from $19.0 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$ to $4.8 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$) related to diffusion bonding of previously discreet particles, but, with an accompanying improvement in physical structure and surface chemistry, including: (i) reordering and recrystallisation of the metallic cores; (ii) concurrent thinning, dehydration and stoichiometric refinement of the surface oxide; and (iii) migration of impurities toward the particle surfaces and grain boundaries. A comparative study

of annealed and non-annealed nZVI for contaminant remediation has since shown that vacuum annealed nZVI exhibit similar or improved levels of contaminant removal, but with a marked decrease in Fe dissolution [50]. Taking into account the reduced surface area, annealing was demonstrated to significantly increase particle reactivity and has been ascribed to the formation of an effective electronic network within the annealed nZVI structures, related to the increase of Fe^{2+} relative to Fe^{3+} in the surface oxide and its refinement into a uniformly structured magnetite (Fe₃O₄) layer around the metal core [50].

Magnetite has an inverse spinel structure that accommodates both Fe²⁺ and Fe³⁺ in octahedral sites and exhibits effective electron hopping between these sites. Consequently magnetite is a strong semiconductor $(10^2 - 10^3 \Omega^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1})$ and when formed as a film on Fe⁰ is likely to provide a catalytic surface site, facilitating electron transfer from the metal to the oxide, as previously reported [117]. In unmodified nZVI the surface magnetite is defective, poorly crystalline and may co-exist with other non-conductive oxide phases. Consequently, the catalytic behaviour of the surface oxide is considered to be limited and in the early stages of aqueous activity, where direct electrochemical corrosion and dissolution of the Fe⁰ may be observed until a uniform oxide is formed. By comparison, the magnetite present on annealed nZVI is determined to be uniform with refined stoichiometry and good electron conductivity such that conductive behaviour is greatly improved and direct contact of the zero valent iron with water (or constituent contaminants) is prevented, Fig. 5.

Resultantly, particle reactivity is improved whilst also limiting initial corrosion rates. Results have also indicated that contaminants such as uranium are retained for longer periods on annealed nZVI, perhaps indicating that in the early stages of reaction a greater proportion of the sequestered U⁶⁺ is converted to U⁴⁺ oxide via surface catalysed reductive precipitation [77].

4.5. NZVI injection strategy

With nanoparticle injection conceptually possible at almost any location and depth in a terrestrial groundwater system, the method employed, and the distribution and quantity of injection wells, typically depends on the geology and geochemistry of a contaminated site and not on the location of the contaminant plume. This is unless plume depth is great enough to incur project-limiting deployment costs due to requirements for higher injection pressures and/or larger infrastructure. Subsurface inhomogeneities, such as highly consolidated layers, cobblestones, cracks and fissures, and subaerial features, such as monoliths, rivers, buildings and roads, may also affect the proposed injection location(s). However, most vendors typically use a relatively aggressive injection method, often involving hydraulic and/or pneumatic fracturing of the medium to facilitate nZVI movement into soil pores.

In order to perform an effective site evaluation, all geologic and plume heterogeneities must be determined along with a model of all hydraulic and chemical parameters. Once this has been achieved can the geo-environmental engineer theoretically and/or empirically determine (using water and sediment samples taken from the site) whether nZVI is appropriate, and if so: (i) the approximate nZVI composition and; (ii) the deployment strategy. A pilot test is then performed in a small area of the site to determine any unforeseen challenges associated with the project. Data and evidence can then be collated to determine a tailored remediation strategy, including: the composition, quantity and concentration of the nZVI slurry mixture, along with the injection apparatus, location(s), depth, orientation, pressure, flowrate and duration. Other logistical factors that must be considered include: workforce safety, the potential



Fig. 5. A transmission electron microscope (TEM) image of: as-formed nZVI (top left) and; (B) vacuum annealed nZVI (top right). An illustration of the perceived structural transformation of: as-formed nZVI before (bottom left) and; vacuum annealed nZVI (bottom right) [9].

for accidental nZVI release, the impact the project may have on local flora and fauna populations and, the strategy for monitoring and any repeated treatments.

As proposed by Tratnyek and Johnson [118], the method of nZVI injection can be tailored for the treatment of mobile or immobile contamination, Fig. 6.

For the treatment of mobile contaminant plumes, low mobility nZVI is typically used for the formation of a "reactive treatment zone". The nanoparticles are sequentially injected and adsorb to native aquifer material, forming a physicochemical filter. For the treatment of a static contaminant body, namely non-aqueous phase liquids (NAPL), mobile nZVI is typically selected and injected upstream for direct treatment. Whilst theoretically robust from a simplistic perspective, both methods are reliant on extremely accurate control over site conditions and nZVI corrosion rate. Compared to permeable reactive barrier technologies, very little is known about the effect of pore clogging (size exclusion) caused by the physical presence of nZVI and its voluminous corrosion products. For example, ferrihydrite ($Fe_2O_3 \cdot H_2O$) is up to 600% larger than an equal mass of Fe⁰ [119]. In certain circumstances this could prove beneficial. However, if applied incorrectly, the contaminant plume could be inadvertently directed to a different location. This is an extremely significant factor and has largely been overlooked in the literature [119].

As mentioned in Section 3, the type and concentration of groundwater geochemical constituents (including contaminants) has a strong bearing on the nZVI deployment mechanism, with a large quantity of nZVI typically required for chemically complex waters, and to prevent the remobilisation of heavy metals and radionuclides. Also, the presence of electron donors, especially in aquifer sites that have glacial outwash sediment from bedrock, can cause unwanted nZVI agglomeration and subsequent gelation and pore clogging. Consequently, in addition to standard site monitoring procedures, a determination of the physical distribution and chemical form of nZVI in the subsurface would be highly desirable;

to provide direct feedback as to the progression/evolution of the deployment system. At present, there is no field-portable device available that can detect nanoparticles in situ. However, measurement of groundwater oxidation-reduction potential (ORP) is an effective long-term nZVI performance parameter.

4.6. The environmental toxicology of nZVI

Nanoparticles are in many of the products that we use on a daily basis and are surreptitiously entering the environment in ever increasing volumes. Although the current mass balance for nanoparticles in the environment system is presently undefined it is conceivable that a large amount of anthropogenic nanoparticles, from an increasing variety of sources, could find their way into the soil, atmosphere and aquatic systems [120].

By association, the concept of deliberately injecting engineered nanoparticles into environmental water systems, albeit as a remedial measure, has consequently attracted scrutiny and concern from both academic and environmental authorities. The same properties that make nZVI potentially useful for environmental remediation, specifically their small size and high redox reactivity, also make them potentially harmful to living organisms [121]. To date, a limited number of studies have reported demonstrable toxicity to cells of different types [122–128].

Keenan et al. [128] demonstrated that nZVI can rapidly react with oxygen and cause lung cells to die whilst Pisanic et al. [125] observed limited growth and damage in nerve cells exposed to nZVI. The primary mechanism for cellular damage is considered to be related to nZVI oxidation reactions, where redox cycling and the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) from reduced Fe within a cell can cause lipid peroxidation and damage to internal structures such as DNA [129–131]. Evidence also suggests nZVI to have greater ecotoxicity than nanoscale magnetite [127], highlighting the significant role of reduced iron (Fe⁰ or Fe²⁺) in causing toxic effects. This result also suggests that iron oxides/hydroxides produced by

(a) Nanoparticle injection well (b) Injection of immobile nanoparticles Immobile particles used Groundwater flow Nanoparticles to establish a static Well head injected under direction reactive treatment zone pressure Annulus Ground surface pressure Grout or bentonite well seal Annulus Contaminated Treated groundwater plume groundwater (c) Injection of mobile nanoparticles Perimeter injection points Particles carried by groundwater flow into Packer the treatment zone.

Contaminanted aquifer body Confining layer Nanoparticle injection at or upstream of pollution source to destroy or immobilise the contaminant e.g. DNAPL

Fig. 6. (A) The layout of a typical nanoparticle injection well. The technology is very similar to that used for injection of CO₂ into subterranean storage reservoirs. Right: the use of nanoparticle injection technology for treating contaminant bodies that are (B) mobile; and (C) immobile [118]. The location and number of particle injection wells is site specific and tailored to achieve the best possible remediation.

nZVI corrosion present significantly less risk, because their inherent nano-toxicity is lower and their increased volume (into the macro-scale) significantly reduces the likelihood of cellular uptake.

Injection zone

particle

A study by Pisanic et al. [125] showed that nZVI with stabilisation coatings, such as polyacrylic acid, resulted in more cellular damage since the particles existed for a longer period without degradation. The shape and size of particles has also been linked to the uptake and toxicology of nanoparticles, with increasingly smaller particles displaying intensifying toxicity.

So far, laboratory 'in vitro' tests have demonstrated nZVI toxicity on isolated cell cultures and test organisms in sterile deionised water or phosphate buffered saline (PBS) over relatively short timescales (<1 h), but research using "real" samples and environmentally relevant timescales are extremely limited [132]. It may prove that nanoparticles in natural environments will be less toxic than indicated by laboratory experiments using synthetic parameters. For example, in a study by Tong et al. [133], C₆₀ fullerenes, which in the laboratory have destroyed microbes, were not observed to seriously damage the microbial cultures present in soil after 30 days' exposure.

As the reactions which determine the fate of Fe^0 are well understood, the fate of nZVI in subsurface and aqueous environments can be reasonably well predicted [134]. The acute redox sensitivity of nZVI, which drives the high rates of contaminant reaction and corrosion observed, dictates that their persistence in subsurface environments will be limited. Without fundamentally changing the composition and structure of nZVI it is likely that even the most effectively stabilised and engineered nZVI is likely to be immobilised in the subsurface via aggregation, mineral sorption or oxidative degradation within timescales in the order of days to weeks. Resultantly, nZVI in groundwater is highly unlikely to make it into humans or other mammals as they will have broken down long before contact.

The greatest risk that nZVI pose to humans is most obviously during handling, via inhalation and not when it is in the ground. Suitable care and precautions should quite obviously be taken when handling loose, dry nZVI but by using the material in the way they are intended i.e. in liquid suspension, any immediate human danger is removed.

4.6.1. nZVI in assisted natural remediation

Regardless of the performance of nZVI for environmental remediation, contaminated sites rely on bioremediation as a concurrent or terminal process and to prevent metal and/or metalloid pollutant re-release [135]. Microbially mediated reactions involving Fe can both aid and hinder aqueous contaminant removal reactions. For example, Fe³⁺-reducing micro-organisms can reduce and precipitate a wide range of high-valence contaminant metals (such as U, Cr and Tc) through direct enzymatic reduction and via indirect reduction catalysed by biogenic Fe²⁺, but have also been shown to release a wide range of trace metals formerly bound to Fe³⁺ phases [136].

Preliminary studies using nZVI have reported mixed results depending on the chosen experimental parameters. However,

most studies using "real" samples at low nanoparticle concentrations have reported minimal adverse affect on the functioning of plants, microorganisms and soils [137,138]. Whilst, the chemically reducing conditions imbued by the application of nZVI is comparable to the conditions in which anaerobic bacteria develop and proliferate, the capability of micro-organisms to survive in strongly reducing conditions (e.g. -500 to -600 mV) needs further documentation. In addition, mild reducing conditions (e.g. -100to -300 mV) have been proven as amenable for some anaerobic microbial communities, such as methanogens, but further research is required into determining the fundamental metabolic pathways involved, including whether soil amendments, such as lactate in soils with insufficient electron donors and/or total organic carbon (TOC) are required [139].

As explained in Section 3, the potential re-release of metal and/or metalloid contaminants following a period of apparent remediation is an issue which may significantly limit the extent to which this technology is developed and deployed. There exists a fundamental need to examine the reversible nature of such chemical and/or biological pathways in order to determine appropriate nZVI physicochemical composition, complimentary materials/chemicals that may be used in conjunction with nZVI and injection procedures that are synergistic to the long-term chemistry and biology of the contaminated site.

5. UK legislation

The use of nZVI for in situ environmental applications has reached regulated status in many countries, including the USA, Canada, the Czech Republic, Germany, Italy and Slovakia [140]. Other countries, such as the UK, are yet to establish a legislative framework for commercial application. Since the Royal Society and Royal Academy of Engineering 'Nanoscience and Nanotechnologies: Opportunities and Uncertainties' report in 2004 [141] it has been advocated that a "precautionary approach" should be applied to the introduction of engineered nanoparticles to the environment, until further research has been performed on the potential environmental impacts. This recommendation was generic to all types of nanomaterials, and also predates a significant amount of the aforementioned studies on the toxicology and environmental fate of nZVI. Consequently, in 2010 the UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs commissioned a literature-based survey to determine "A risk/benefit approach to the application of iron nanoparticles for the remediation of contaminated sites in the environment". The organisation CL:AIRE (Contaminated Land: Applications in Real Environments) was chosen to lead the study. The report is expected in the public domain by late 2011 and will provide a scientific foundation for a more accurate UK legislative framework [142]. What is considered implicit for the future acceptance of nZVI as a remediation technology is a demonstrable and fundamental understanding of nZVI behaviour in subsurface environmental systems. As part of this, the accurate prediction of nZVI mobility, reactivity, fate and ecological impact will be critical. Future research must seek to rapidly address these areas, providing a sound body of scientific evidence upon which legislative decisions may be made.

6. A universal nZVI testing framework

Due to the extremely wide array of different nZVI materials available, the selection of an appropriate material for site remediation can be bewildering for even the most capable geoenvironmental engineer. Moreover, due to the highly reactive nature of nZVI it is a perishable product, meaning that one can never assure that the material will maintain its reactivity after its manufacture/purchase date; even under extremely controlled storage conditions. It therefore makes logical sense to establish a universal testing procedure, so different nZVI-based materials may be compared and contrasted. Such parameters would be of specific use in academia, to ensure emerging nZVI investigations are directly comparable, and, in the commercial sector, to ensure quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC).

6.1. Standard testing parameters

In addition to the standard safety information supplied by nZVI vendors it is recommended that, as a minimum, nZVI products should also be supplied with the following information: fabrication date, storage conditions, bulk and surface elemental composition, oxide thickness, particle size distribution (PSD), specific surface area (SSA), zeta potential (ζ) and isoelectric point (IEP). Testing data should also be included related to reactivity and mobility. The former could include data on pH/ORP manipulation as a function of time for a known volume of deionised water and also batch degradation results for a well characterised aqueous contaminant specie, such as methylene blue [143]. The latter could be tested using soil column experiments [144], magnetic induction coils [145] or simply by measuring the transmittance of a beam of light through a nZVI suspension as a function of time.

The establishment of a universal set of materials performance data for nZVI would be significant for developing future studies concerned with investigating the fundamental environmental behaviour and impact of nZVI.

6.2. Universal NZVI reactivity test

Due to the inherent complexity of using ORP manipulation to determine nZVI reactivity [146], an alternative method could be to measure the evolution of hydrogen gas, produced from the hydrolysis of water, during the material's aqueous corrosion (Eqs. (2) and (4)) [147,148,58,149,150]. The method regards the exposure of a known quantity of nZVI, with a known volume of an aqueous reagent, in a sealed container of known headspace. For the reaction of nZVI with deionised water, one mole of $H_{2(g)}$ is produced is directly proportional to amount of Fe⁰ in a material. The method can therefore also be used to quantify: (i) the extent at which the material's reactivity is limited by oxide/hydroxide formation; and (ii) the proportion of non-H₂ generating components (such as oxide/hydroxides and impurities, e.g. C, H₂O, OH⁻).

As the mass and volumetric density of $H_{2(g)}$ in Fe⁰ are 0.036 g g⁻¹ and 0.284 g cm⁻³ respectively, the method can be achieved using relatively small quantities of nZVI powder and minimal experimental apparatus. The method can therefore be used in the field, to measure the nZVI content of a slurry prior to deployment; NANO IRON, s.r.o. offer a commercial product, their "nZVI tester" [151].

7. Conclusions

Nanotechnology is one of the most rapidly growing sectors of the global economy. Over a thousand products using nanomaterials are currently available for a diverse range of applications within the private and public sector. For the treatment of contaminated water and soils, a growing body of theoretical and empirical evidence has proven nZVI as both highly effective and versatile. In recent years there have been significant innovations in terms of manufacture techniques, physicochemical functionalisations and enhancements in subsurface stability and mobility. However, the competiveness of nZVI against other in situ treatments such as chemical oxidation is still widely disputed. The wide variety of different nZVI physicochemical compositions available and discrepancies in the literature with regard to the chosen testing parameters had led to a confusing array of data. Consequently, in order for different nZVI materials to be effectively contrasted with each other and/or conventional site remediation techniques, a universal empirical testing framework is required, and has been reported herein.

The current review has also highlighted that whilst much emphasis has been placed on methods to enhance particle reactivity (bimetallic combinations, thermal treatments, etc.), seemingly little attention has been paid to reducing production costs or determining the material's ecological impact.

The universal acceptance of nZVI as a remediation technology may well occur, but not until a fundamental understanding of behaviour, interactions and impact has been demonstrated. Future research must seek to establish a sound body of evidence upon which predictions of nZVI mobility, reactivity, fate and ecological impact may be accurately made. Such evidence combined with expected reductions in production costs will prove invaluable for successfully establishing this technology in the land remediation toolbox alongside other more conventional methods.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Mr. Jonathan Jones from the School of Chemistry, University of Bristol for performing TEM analysis.

References

- J. Jortner, C.N.R. Rao, Nanostructured advanced materials. Perspectives and directions, Pure Appl. Chem. 74 (2002) 1491–1506.
- [2] A. Panácek, L. Kvítek, R. Prucek, M. Kolář, R. Veceřová, N. Pizúrová, V.K. Sharma, T.j. Nevěcná, R. Zbořil, Silver colloid nanoparticles: synthesis, characterization, and their antibacterial activity, J. Phys. Chem. B 110 (2006) 16248–16253.
- [3] The Woodrow Wilson Nanoparticle Consumer Products Inventory. http://www.nanotechproject.org/inventories/consumer/ (accessed 21.09.11).
- [4] T. Masciangioli, W.X. Zhang, Environmental technologies at the nanoscale, Environ. Sci. Technol. 37 (2003) 102–108.
- [5] P.V. AshaRani, G. Low Kah Mun, M.P. Hande, S. Valiyaveettil, Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles in human cells, ACS Nano 3 (2008) 279–290.
- [6] W.X. Zhang, Nanoscale iron particles for environmental remediation: an overview, J. Nanopart. Res. 5 (2003) 323–332.
- [7] C.A. Noubactep, A critical review on the process of contaminant removal in Fe⁰-H₂O systems, Environ. Technol. 29 (2008) 909–920.
- [8] R.A. Crane, M. Dickinson, I.C. Popescu, T.B. Scott, Magnetite and zero-valent iron nanoparticles for the remediation of uranium contaminated environmental water, Water Res. 45 (2011) 2931–2942.
- [9] T.B. Scott, M. Dickinson, R.A. Crane, O. Riba, G.M. Hughes, G.C. Allen, The effects of vacuum annealing on the structure and surface chemistry of iron nanoparticles, J. Nanopart. Res. 12 (2010) 1765–1775.
- [10] G.N. Glavee, K.J. Klabunde, C.M. Sorenson, G.C. Hadjipanayis, Chemistry of borohydride reduction of iron(II) and iron(III) ions in aqueous and nonaqueous media. Formation of nanoscale Fe, FeB, and Fe2B powders, Inorg. Chem. 34 (1995) 28–32.
- [11] C.B. Wang, W.X. Zhang, Synthesizing nanoscale iron particles for rapid and complete dechlorination of TCE and PCBs, Environ. Sci. Technol. 31 (1997) 2154–2156.
- [12] A. Ghauch, A. Tuqan, H.A. Assi, Antibiotic removal from water: Elimination of amoxicillin and ampicillin by microscale and nanoscale iron particles, Environ. Pollut. 157 (2009) 1626–1635.
- [13] Z. Fang, J. Chen, X. Qiu, W. Cheng, L. Zhu, Effective removal of antibiotic metronidazole from water by nanoscale zero-valent iron particles, Desalination 268 (2011) 60–67.
- [14] J. Fan, Y. Guo, J. Wang, M. Fan, Rapid decolorization of azo dye methyl orange in aqueous solution by nanoscale zerovalent iron particles, J. Hazard. Mater. 166 (2009) 904–910.
- [15] Y. Lin, C. Weng, F. Chen, Effective removal of AB24 dye by nano/micro-size zero-valent iron, Sep. Purif. Technol. 64 (2008) 26–30.
- [16] H.L. Lien, W.X. Zhang, Transformation of chlorinated methanes by nanoscale iron particles, J. Environ. Eng. 125 (1999) 1042–1047.
- [17] S. Choe, S.H. Lee, Y.Y. Chang, K.Y. Hwang, J. Khim, Rapid reductive destruction of hazardous organic compounds by nanoscale Fe⁰, Chemosphere 42 (2001) 367–372.
- [18] Y. Liu, S.A. Majetich, R.D. Tilton, D.S. Sholl, G.V. Lowry, TCE dechlorination rates, pathways, and efficiency of nanoscale iron particles with different properties, Environ. Sci. Technol. 39 (2005) 1338–1345.
- [19] D.W. Elliot, H.L. Lien, W.X. Zhang, Degradation of lindane by zero-valent iron nanoparticles, J. Environ. Eng. 135 (2009) 317–325.

- [20] H. Tian, J. Li, Z. Mu, L. Li, Z.H. Effect of pH on DDT degradation in aqueous solution using bimetallic Ni/Fe nanoparticles, Sep. Purif. Technol. 66 (2009) 84–89.
- [21] S.H. Joo, D. Zhao, Destruction of lindane and atrazine using stabilized iron nanoparticles under aerobic and anaerobic conditions: effects of catalyst and stabilizer, Chemosphere 70 (2008) 418–425.
- [22] T. Satapanajaru, P. Anurakpongsatorn, P. Pengthamkeerati, H. Boparai, Remediation of atrazine-contaminated soil and water by nano zerovalent iron, Water Air Soil Pollut. 192 (2008) 349–359.
- [23] R.D. Ambashta, E. Repo, M. Sillanpää, Degradation of tributyl phosphate using nanopowders of iron and iron-nickel under influence of static magnetic field, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 50 (2011) 11771–11777.
- [24] G. Naja, A. Halasz, S. Thiboutot, G. Ampleman, J. Hawari, Degradation of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) using zerovalent iron nanoparticles, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 4364–4370.
- [25] X. Zhang, Y. Lin, Z. Chen, 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene reduction kinetics in aqueous solution using nanoscale zero-valent iron, J. Hazard. Mater. 165 (2009) 923–927.
- [26] X. Zhang, Y.M. Lin, X.Q. Shan, Z.L. Chen, Degradation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT) from explosive wastewater using nanoscale zero-valent iron, Chem. Eng. J. 158 (2010) 566–570.
- [27] R. Cheng, J.-L. Wang, W.-X. Zhang, Comparison of reductive dechlorination of p-chlorophenol using Fe-0 and nanosized Fe-0, J. Hazard. Mater. 144 (2007) 334–339.
- [28] A. Li, C. Tai, Z. Zhao, Y. Wang, Q. Zhang, G. Jiang, J. Hu, Debromination of decabrominated diphenyl ether by resin-bound iron nanoparticles, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 6841–6846.
- [29] Y.H. Shih, Y.T. Tai, Reaction of decabrominated diphenyl ether by zerovalent iron nanoparticles, Chemosphere 78 (2010) 1200–1206.
- [30] P. Varanasi, A. Fullana, S. Sidhu, Remediation of PCB contaminated soils using iron nano-particles, Chemosphere 66 (2007) 1031–1038.
- [31] S. Choe, Y.Y. Chang, K.Y. Hwang, J. Khim, Kinetics of reductive denitrification by nanoscale zero-valent iron, Chemosphere 41 (2000) 1307–1311.
- [32] W. Wang, Z.H. Jin, T.L. Li, H. Zhang, S. Gao, Preparation of spherical iron nanoclusters in ethanol-water solution for nitrate removal, Chemosphere 65 (2006) 1396–1404.
- [33] Z. Xiong, D. Zhao, G. Pan, Rapid and complete destruction of perchlorate in water and ion-exchange brine using stabilized zero-valent iron nanoparticles, Water Res. 41 (2007) 3497–3505.
- [34] O. Çelebi, Ç. Üzüm, T. Shahwan, H.N. Erten, A radiotracer study of the adsorption behavior of aqueous Ba²⁺ ions on nanoparticles of zero-valent iron, J. Hazard. Mater. 148 (2007) 761–767.
- [35] S. Klimkova, M. Cernik, L. Lacinova, J. Filip, D. Jancik, R. Zboril, Zero-valent iron nanoparticles in treatment of acid mine water from in situ uranium leaching, Chemosphere 82 (2011) 1178–1184.
- [36] Y. Xu, D. Zhao, Reductive immobilization of chromate in water and soil using stabilized iron nanoparticles, Water Res. 41 (2007) 2101–2108.
- [37] S.M. Ponder, J.G. Darab, J. Bucher, D. Caulder, I. Craig, L. Davis, N. Edelstein, W. Lukens, H. Nitsche, L.F. Rao, D.K. Shuh, T.E. Mallouk, Surface chemistry and electrochemistry of supported zerovalent iron nanoparticles in the remediation of aqueous metal contaminants, Chem. Mater. 13 (2001) 479–486.
- [38] T.B. Scott, I.C. Popescu, I.C. R.A.Crane, C. Noubactep, Nano-scale metallic iron for the treatment of solutions containing multiple inorganic contaminants, J. Hazard. Mater. 186 (2011) 280–287.
- [39] Ç. Üzüm, T. Shahwan, A.E. Eroğlu, I. Lieberwirth, T.B. Scott, K.R. Hallam, Application of zero-valent iron nanoparticles for the removal of aqueous Co²⁺ ions under various experimental conditions, Chem. Eng. J. 144 (2008) 213–220.
- [40] X.-Q. Li, W.-X. Zhang, Sequestration of metal cations with zerovalent iron nanoparticles: a study with high resolution X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (HR-XPS), J. Phys. Chem. 111 (2007) 6939–6946.
- [41] D. Karabelli, C. Uzum, T. Shahwan, A.E. Eroglu, I. Lieberwirth, T.B. Scott, K.R. Hallam, Batch removal of aqueous Cu²⁺ ions using nanoparticles of zerovalent iron: a study of the capacity and mechanism of uptake, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 47 (2008) 4758–4764.
- [42] J.G. Darab, A.B. Amonette, D.S.D. Burke, R.D. Orr, Removal of pertechnetate from simulated nuclear waste streams using supported zerovalent iron, Chem. Mater. 19 (2007) 5703–5713.
- [43] D. Burghardt, E. Simon, K. Knöller, A. Kassahun, Immobilization of uranium and arsenic by injectible iron and hydrogen stimulated autotrophic sulphate reduction, J. Contam. Hydrol. 94 (2007) 305–314.
- [44] S.R. Kanel, J.M. Greneche, H. Choi, Arsenic(V) removal from groundwater using nano scale zero-valent iron as a colloidal reactive barrier material, Environ. Sci. Technol. 40 (2006) 2045–2050.
- [45] S.R. Kanel, B. Manning, L. Charlet, H. Choi, Removal of arsenic(III) from groundwater by nanoscale zero-valent iron, Environ. Sci. Technol. 39 (2005) 1291–1298.
- [46] S.R. Kanel, D. Nepal, B. Manning, H. Choi, Transport of surface-modified iron nanoparticle in porous media and application to arsenic(III) remediation, J. Nanopart. Res. 9 (2007) 725–735.
- [47] J.T. Olegario, N. Yee, M. Miller, J. Sczepaniak, B. Manning, Reduction of Se(VI) to Se(-II) by zerovalent iron nanoparticle suspensions, J. Nanopart. Res. 12 (2010) 2057–2068.
- [48] M. Dickinson, T.B. Scott, The application of zero-valent iron nanoparticles for the remediation of a uranium-contaminated waste effluent, J. Hazard. Mater. 178 (2010) 171–179.

- [49] O. Riba, T.B. Scott, K.V. Ragnarsdottir, G.C. Allen, Reaction mechanism of uranyl in the presence of zero-valent iron nanoparticles, Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 72 (2008) 4047–4057.
- [50] M. Dickinson, T.B. Scott, The effect of vacuum annealing on the remediation abilities of iron and iron-nickel nanoparticles, J. Nanopart. Res. 12 (2010) 2081-2092
- [51] M. Dickinson, T.B. Scott, R.A. Crane, Zero-valent iron nanoparticles for the remediation of plutonium-contaminated solutions; a preliminary study, submitted for publication.
- [52] R. Miehr, P.G. Tratnyek, J.Z. Bandstra, M.M. Scherer, M. Alowitz, E.J. Bylaska, Diversity of contaminant reduction reactions by zerovalent iron: Role of the reductate, Environ. Sci. Technol. 38 (2004) 139-147.
- [53] http://www.nanoiron.cz/en/nanofer-star (accessed 21.09.11).
- [54] L.B. Hoch, E.J. Mack, B.W. Hydutsky, J.M. Hershman, J.M. Skluzacek, T.E. Mallouk, Carbothermal synthesis of carbon-supported nanoscale zero-valent iron particles for the remediation of hexavalent chromium, Environ, Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 2600-2605.
- [55] G.E. Hoag, J.B. Collins, J.L. Holcomb, J.R. Hoag, M.N. Nadagouda, R.S. Varma, Degradation of bromothymol blue by 'greener' nano-scale zerovalent iron synthesized using tea polyphenols, J. Mater. Chem. 19 (2009) 8671-8677.
- [56] J.T. Nurmi, P.G. Tratnyek, V. Sarathy, D.R. Baer, J.E. Amonette, K. Pecher, C. Wang, J.C. Linehan, D.W. Matson, R.L. Penn, M.D. Driessen, Characterization and properties of metallic iron nanoparticles: spectroscopy, electrochemistry, and kinetics, Environ, Sci. Technol. 39 (2005) 1221-1230.
- [57] Y.P. Sun, X.Q. Li, J. Cao, W. Zhang, H.P. Wang, Characterization of zero-valent iron nanoparticles, Adv. Colloid Interface Sci. 120 (2006) 47-56.
- [58] Y. Liu, G. Lowry, Effect of particle age (Fe⁰ content) and solution pH on nZVI reactivity: H₂ evolution and TCE dechlorination, Environ. Sci. Technol. 40 (2006) 6085 - 6090
- [59] U.S. Navy Website on nZVI. https://portal.navfac.navy.mil/portal/page/portal/ navfac/navfac_ww_pp/navfac_nfesc_pp/environmental/erb/nzvi (accessed 21.09.10
- [60] N.C. Müeller, B. Nowack, Nano zero valent iron THE solution for water and soil remediation? Report of the ObservatoryNANO. Available from: www.observatorynano.eu (accessed 21.09.10).
- [61] M. Uegami, J. Kawano, T. Okita, Y. Fujii, K. Okinaka, K. Kayuka, S. Yatagi, Iron particles for purifying contaminated soil or groundwater, US Patent No. 7,022,256, April 4, 2006.
- [62] EPA, 2010. http://www.clu-in.org/conf/tio/nano-iron_121410/ (accessed 21.09.11).
- [63] M. Bystrzejewski, Synthesis of carbon-encapsulated iron nanoparticles via solid state reduction of iron oxide nanoparticles. J. Solid State Chem. 184 (2011) 1492 - 1498
- [64] S. Chen, H. Hsu, C. Li, A new method to produce nanoscale iron for nitrate removal, J. Nanopart, Res. 6 (2005) 639-647.
- [65] T. Wang, J.S. Hu, W. Yang, H.M. Zhang, Electrodeposition of monodispersed metal nanoparticles in a nafion film: towards highly active nanocatalysts, Electrochem, Commun, 10 (2008) 814–817.
- [66] F. He, D. Zhao, C. Paul, Field assessment of carboxymethyl cellulose stabilized iron nanoparticles for in situ destruction of chlorinated solvents in source zones, Water Res. 44 (2011) 2360–2370. Y.-T. Wei, S.-C. Wu, C.-M. Chou, C.H. Che, S.-M. Tsai, H.-L. Lien, Influence
- [67] of nanoscale zero-valent iron on geochemical properties of groundwater and vinyl chloride degradation: A field case study, Water Res. 44 (2010) 131 - 140
- [68] D.W. Elliott, W. Zhang, Field assessment of nanoscale biometallic particles for groundwater treatment, Environ. Sci. Technol. 35 (2001) 4922-4926
- [69] S. Yan, B. Hua, Z. Bao, J. Yang, C. Liu, B. Deng, Uranium(VI) removal by nanoscale zerovalent iron in anoxic batch systems, Environ. Sci. Technol. 44 (2010) 7783-7789
- [70] D.M. Sherman, C.L. Peacock, C.G. Hubbard, Surface complexation of U(VI) on goethite (α -FeOOH), Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 72 (2008) 298-310.
- [71] I. Grenthe, J. Fuger, R.J.M. Konings, R.J. Lemire, A.B. Muller, C.H. Nguyen-Trung, H. Wanner, Chemical Thermodynamics of Uranium, North Holland, Amsterdam, 1992.
- [72] D. Langmuir, Aqueous Environmental Geochemistry, Prentice-Hall, New Jersey, 1997.
- [73] K.V. Ragnarsdottir, L. Charlet, Uranium behaviour in natural environments. in: Environmental mineralogy - Microbial Interactions, Anthropogenic Influences, Contaminated Land and Waste Management, Mineralogical Society Series, 9, 2000, ISBN 0-903-05620-8, pp. 245-289.
- [74] B. Schrick, B.W. Hydutsky, J.L. Blough, T.E. Mallouk, Delivery vehicles for zerovalent metal nanoparticles in soil and groundwater, Chem. Mater. 16 (2004) 2187-2193.
- [75] M. Elimelech, X. Jia, J. Gregory, R.A. Williams, Particle deposition and aggregation: measurement, modelling and simulation, Butterworth-Heinemann, Woburn, Massachusetts, 1998, p. 440, ISBN: 0-07507-7024-X.
- [76] S.R. Kanel, R.R. Goswami, T.P. Clement, M.O. Barnett, D. Zhao, Two dimensional transport characteristics of surface stabilized zero-valent iron nanoparticles in porous media, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 896-900.
- [77] T.B. Scott, Inorganic nanoparticles for remediation, in: Inorganic Nanoparticles: Synthesis, Applications, and Perspectives, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2011, pp. 393-441.

- [78] B.E Logan, T.A. Camesano, A.A. DeSantis, K.M. Unice, J.C. Baygents, Comment on "A method for calculating bacterial deposition coefficients using the fraction of bacteria recovered from laboratory columns" by Bolster et al., Environ. Sci. Technol. 33 (1999) 1316-1317.
- [79] U.S.EPA, U.S. EPA Workshop on Nanotechnology for Site Remediation, 2005. http://epa.gov/ncer/publications/workshop/pdf/10_20_05_nanosummary.pdf (accessed 21.09.11).
- [80] N. Saleh, T. Sarbu, K. Sirk, G.V. Lowry, K. Matyjaszweski, D. Tilton, Oil-in water emulsions stabilized by highly charged polyelectrolyte-grafted silica nanoparticles, Langmuir 21 (22) (2005) 9873-9878.
- T. Phenrat, H.J. Kim, F. Fagerlund, T. Illangasekare, R. Tilton, G.V. Lowry, Particle [81] size distribution, concentration, and magnetic attraction affect transport of polymer-modified Fe(0) nanoparticles in sand columns, Environ. Sci. Technol. . 43 (2009) 5079–5085.
- [82] K.M. Sirk, N.B. Saleh, T. Phenrat, H.J. Kim, B. Dufour, O. Jeongbin, P.L. Golas, K. Matyjaszewski, G.V. Lowry, R.D. Tilton, Effect of adsorbed polyelectrolytes on nanoscale zero valent iron particle attachment to soil surface models, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 3803-3808.
- [83] T. Phenrat, N. Saleh, K. Sirk, H.J. Kim, R.D. Tilton, G.V. Lowry, Stabilization of aqueous zerovalent iron dispersions by anionic polyelectrolytes: adsorbed anionic polyelectrolyte layer properties and their effect on aggregation and sedimentation, J. Nanopart. Res. 10 (2007) 795-814.
- [84] A. Tiraferri, K.L. Chen, R. Sethi, M. Elimelech, Reduced aggregation and sedimentation of zero-valent iron nanoparticles in the presence of guar gum, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 324 (2009) 71-79.
- [85] B.W. Hydutsky, E.J. Mack, B.B. Beckerman, J.M. Skluzacek, T.E. Mallouk, Optimization of nano-and microiron transport through sand columns using polyelectrolyte mixtures, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 6418-6424.
- [86] X. Wang, B.I. Lee, L. Mann, Dispersion of barium titanate with polyaspartic acid in aqueous media, Colloids Surf., A 202 (2002) 71-80.
- [87] Y-.P. Sun, X-.Q. Li, W-.X. Zhang, H.P. Wang, A method for the preparation of stable dispersion of zero-valent iron nanoparticles, Physicochem. Eng. A 308 (2007) 60-66.
- [88] N.B. Saleh, T. Phenrat, K.M. Sirk, B. Dufour, J. Ok, T. Sarbu, K. Matyjaszewski, R.D. Tilton, G.V. Lowry, Adsorbed triblock copolymers deliver reactive iron nanoparticles to the oil/water interface, Nano Lett. 5 (2005) 2489-2494.
- [89] S. Comba, R. Sethi, Stabilization of highly concentrated suspensions of iron nanoparticles using shear-thinning gels of xanthan gum, Water Res. 43 (2009) 3717-3726.
- [90] http://www.rtdf.org/public/permbarr/minutes/102704/pdf/milum.pdf (accessed 21.09.11).
- [91] R.C. Borden, Effective distribution of emulsified edible oil for enhanced anaerobic bioremediation, J. Contam. Hydrol. 94 (2007) 1–12. Y.C. Lee, T.S. Kwon, J.S. Yang, J.W. Yang, Remediation of groundwater con-
- [92] taminated with DNAPLs by biodegradable oil emulsion, J. Hazard. Mater. 140 (2007) 340-345.
- C.A. Ramsburg, K.D. Pennell, T.C.G. Kibbey, K.F. Hayes, Use of a surfactant-[93] stabilized emulsion to deliver 1-butanol for density-modified displacement of trichloroethene, Environ, Sci. Technol. 37 (2003) 4246-4253.
- [94] N. Bergeand, C.A. Ramsberg, Oil-in-water emulsions for encapsulated delivery of reactive iron particles, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 5060-5066.
- Y. Wang, W. Wei, D. Maspoch, J. Wu, V.P. Dravid, C.A. Mirkin, Superparamagnetic sub-5 nm Fe@C nanoparticles: isolation, structure, magnetic properties, and directed assembly, Nano Lett. 8 (2008) 3761-3765.
- B. Terris, T. Thomson, Nanofabricated and self-assembled magnetic structures [96]
- as data storage media, J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 38 (2005) R199.
 [97] J.H. Lee, Y.M. Huh, Y.W. Jun, J.W. Seo, J.T. Jang, H.T. Song, S. Kim, E.J. Cho, H.G. Yoon, J.S. Suh, J. Cheon, Artificially engineered magnetic nanoparticles for ultra-sensitive molecular imaging, Nat. Med. 13 (2007) 95-99.
- [98] G. Li, V. Joshi, R.L. White, S.X. Wang, J.T. Kemp, C. Webb, R.W. Davis, S. Sun, Detection of single micron-sized magnetic bead and magnetic nanoparticles using spin valve sensors for biological applications, J. Appl. Phys. 93 (2003) 7557-7559.
- [99] I. Safarik, M. Safarikova, Magnetic techniques for the isolation and purification of proteins and peptides, Biomagn. Res. Technol. 2 (2004), doi:10.1186/1477-044X-2-7.
- [100] N.J. Tang, W. Chen, W. Zhong, H.Y. Jiang, S.L. Huang, Y.W. Du, Highly stable carbon-coated Fe/SiO2 composites: synthesis, structure and magnetic properties, Carbon 44 (2006) 423-427.
- [101] J.L Wilson, P. Poddar, N.A. Frey, H. Srikanith, K. Mohomed, J.P. Harmon, S. Kotha, J. Wachsmuth, Synthesis and magnetic properties of polymer nanocomposites with embedded iron nanoparticles, J. Appl. Phys. 95 (2004) 1439-1444
- [102] D. Zhang, S. Wei, C. Kailia, X. Su, J. Wu, A.B. Karki, D.P. Young, Z. Guo, Carbonstabilized iron nanoparticles for environmental remediation, Nanoscale 2 (2010) 917-919.
- [103] http://www.ufz.de/index.php?de=7038 (accessed 21.09.11).
- [104] W.-X. Zhang, C.-B. Wang, H.-L. Lien, Treatment of chlorinated organic contaminants with nanoscale bimetallic particles, Catal. Today 40 (1998) 387-395.
- [105] C. Grittini, M. Malcomson, Q. Fernando, N. Korte, Hydrodechlorination of chlorinated ethanes by nanoscale Pd/Fe bimetallic particles, Environ. Sci. Technol. 29 (1995) 2898-2900.
- [106] H.L. Lien, W.X. Zhang, Hydrodechlorination of chlorinated ethanes by nanoscale Pd/Fe bimetallic particles, J. Environ. Eng. 131 (2005) 4-10.

- [107] H.L. Lien, W.X. Zhang, Nanoscale Pd/Fe bimetallic particles: Catalytic effects of palladium on hydrodechlorination, Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 77 (2007) 110–116.
- [108] Y. Xu, W.X. Zhang, Subcolloidal Fe/Ag particles for reductive dehalogenation of chlorinated benzenes, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 39 (2000) 2238–2244.
- [109] B. Schrick, J.L. Blough, A.D. Jones, T.E. Mallouk, Hydrodechlorination of trichloroethylene to hydrocarbons using bimetallic nickel-iron nanoparticles, Chem. Mater. 14 (2002) 5140–5147.
- [110] Y.H. Tee, L. Bachas, D. Bhattacharyya, Degradation of trichloroethylene by iron-based bimetallic nanoparticles, J. Phys. Chem. 113 (2009) 9454–9464.
- [111] R.J. Barnes, O. Riba, M.N. Gardner, T.B. Scott, S.A. Jackman, I.P. Thompson, Optimization of nano-scale nickel/iron particles for the reduction of high concentration chlorinated aliphatic hydrocarbon solutions, Chemosphere 79 (2010) 448–454.
- [112] R.J. Barnes, O. Riba, M.N. Gardner, A.C. Singer, S.A. Jackman, I.P. Thompson, Inhibition of biological TCE and sulphate reduction in the presence of iron nanoparticles, Chemosphere 80 (2010) 554–562.
- [113] Z.M. Xiu, Z.H. Jin, T.L. Li, S. Mahendra, G.V. Lowry, P.J.J. Alvarez, Effects of nano-scale zero-valent iron particles on a mixed culture dechlorinating trichloroethylene, Bio. Technol. 101 (2010) 1141–1146.
- [114] http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/static/documents/Research/ SCH00409BPWB-e-e.pdf (accessed 21.09.11).
- [115] F. Moura, G. Oliveira, M. Araujo, J. Ardisson, W. Macedo, R. Lago, Formation of highly reactive species at the interface Fe degrees-iron oxides particles by mechanical alloying and thermal treatment: potential application in environmental remediation processes, Chem. Lett. 34 (2005) 1172–1173.
- [116] H. Cui, Y. Feng, W. Ren, T. Zeng, L. Hongying, P. Yanfei, Strategies of large scale synthesis of monodisperse nanoparticles, Rec. Pat. Nanotechol. 3 (2009) 32–41.
- [117] F. Moura, G. Oliveira, M. Araujo, J. Ardisson, W. Macedo, R. Lago, Formation of highly reactive species at the interface Fe⁰-iron oxides particles by mechanical alloying and thermal treatment: potential application in environmental remediation processes, Chem. Lett. 34 (2005) 1172–1173.
- [118] P.G. Tratnyek, R.L. Johnson, Nanotechnologies for environmentalcleanup, Nanotoday 1 (2006) 44–48.
- [119] C. Noubactep, S. Care, R.A. Crane. Nanoscale metallic iron for environmental remediation: prospects and limitations, Water Air Soil Pollut., doi:10.1007/s11270-011-0951-1, in press.
- [120] E. Navarro, A. Baun, R. Behra, N. Hartmann, J. Filser, A. Miao, A. Quigg, A. Neal, What can be inferred from bacterium-nanoparticle interactions about the potential consequences of environmental exposure to nanoparticles? Ecotoxicology 17 (2008) 362–371.
- [121] A. Nel, T. Xia, L. Madler, N. Li, Toxic potential of materials at the nanolevel, Science 311 (2006) 622-627.
- [122] M. Diao, M. Yao, Use of zero-valent iron nanoparticles in inactivating microbes, Water Res. 43 (2009) 5243–5251.
- [123] M. Auffan, W. Achouak, J. Rose, M.-A. Roncato, C. Chaneac, D.T. Waite, A. Masion, J.C. Woicik, M.R. Wiesner, J.-V. Bottero, Relation between the redox state of iron-based nanoparticles and their cytotoxicity toward *Escherichia coli*, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 6730–6735.
- [124] C. Lee, J. Kim, W. Lee, K. Nelson, J. Yoon, D. Sedlak, Bactericidal effect of zerovalent iron nanoparticles on *Escherichia coli*, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 4927–4933.
- [125] T. Pisanic, J. Blackwell, V. Shubayev, R. Fiñones, S. Jin, Nanotoxicity of iron oxide nanoparticle internalization in growing neurons, Biomaterials 28 (2007) 2572–2581.
- [126] G. Waychunas, C. Kim, J. Banfield, Nanoparticulate iron oxide minerals in soils and sediments: unique properties and contaminant scavenging mechanisms, J. Nanopart. Res. 7 (2005) 409–433.
- [127] T. Phenrat, T. Long, G. Lowry, B. Veronesi, Partial oxidation ("aging") and surface modification decrease the toxicity of nanosized zerovalent iron, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 195–200.

- [128] C. Keenan, R. Goth-Goldstein, D. Lucas, D. Sedlak, Oxidative stress induced by zero-valent iron nanoparticles and Fe(II) in human bronchial epithelial cells, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 4555–4560.
- [129] S. Stohs, D. Bagchi, Oxidative mechanisms in the toxicity of metal ions, Free Radical Biol. Med. 18 (1995) 321–336.
- [130] M. Valko, H. Morris, M. Cronin, Metals, toxicity and oxidative stress, Curr. Med. Chem. 12 (2005) 1161–1208.
- [131] T. Xia, M. Kovochich, J. Brant, M. Hotze, J. Sempf, T. Oberley, C. Sioutas, J. Yeh, M. Wiesner, A. Nel, Comparison of the abilities of ambient and manufactured nanoparticles to induce cellular toxicity according to an oxidative stress paradigm, Nano Lett. 6 (2006) 1794–1807.
- [132] R.J. Barnes, C.J. van der Gast, O. Riba, L.E. Lehtovirta, J.I. Prosser, P.J. Dobson, I.P. Thompson, The impact of zero-valent iron nanoparticles on a river water community, J. Hazard. Mater. 184 (2010) 73–80.
- [133] Z. Tong, M. Bischoff, L. Nies, B. Applegate, R. Turco, Impact of fullerene (C60) on a soil microbial community, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 2985–2991.
- [134] K. Grieger, A. Fjordbøge, N. Hartmann, E. Eriksson, P. Bjerg, A. Baun, Environmental benefits and risks of zero-valent iron nanoparticles (nZVI) for in situ remediation: risk mitigation or trade-off? J. Contam. Hydrol. 118 (2010) 165–183.
- [135] A.B. Cundy, L. Hopkinson, R.L.D. Whitby, Use of iron-based technologies in contaminated land and groundwater remediation: a review, Sci. Total Environ. 400 (2008) 42–51.
- [136] J. Lloyd, Microbial reduction of metals and radionuclides, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 27 (2003) 411–425.
- [137] K.W. Henn, D.W. Waddill, Utilization of nanoscale zero-valent iron for source remediation – a case study, Remediation 16 (2006) 57–77.
- [138] T. Kirschling, K. Gregory, N. Minkley, G. Lowry, R. Tilton, Impact of nanoscale zero valent iron on geochemistry and microbial populations, Environ. Sci. Technol. 44 (2010) 3474–3480.
- [139] C. Mace, S. Desrocher, F. Gheorghiu, A. Kane, M. Pupeza, M. Cernik, P. Kvapil, R. Venkatakishnan, W.-X. Zhang, Nanotechnology and groundwater remediation: a step forward in technology understanding, Remediation 6 (2006) 23–33.
- [140] T. Walker, J. Cloete, Nanotechnology and water treatment: applications and emerging opportunities, Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 34 (2008) 43–69.
- [141] 'Nanoscience and Nanotechnologies: Opportunities and Uncertainties'. http://www.nanotec.org.uk/finalReport.htm (accessed 21.09.11).
- [142] Contaminated Land: Applications in Real Environments (CL:AIRE). http://www.claire.co.uk/index.php?option=com.content&view=article&id= 376:claire-to-lead-uk-study-into-the-use-of-iron-nanoparticles-in-soila-groundwater-remediation&catid=1:news<emid=93 (accessed 21.09.11).
- [143] C. Noubactep, Characterizing the discoloration of methylene blue in Fe⁰/H₂O systems, J. Hazard. Mater. 166 (2009) 79–87.
- [144] C. Noubactep, S. Care, Designing laboratory metallic iron columns for better result comparability, J. Hazard. Mater. 3 (2011) 809–813.
- [145] C. de Boer, N. Klaas, J. Braun, Anwendung nanoskaliger Eisenkolloide zur In-Situ-Sanierung anthropogener CKW-Kontaminationen im Untergrund. Wissenschaftlicher Bericht Nr. VEG 36, 2009/05. University of Stuttgart, 2009.
- [146] Z. Shi, J.T. Nurmi, P.G. Tratnyek, Effects of nano zero-valent iron on oxidation-reduction potential, Environ. Sci. Technol. 45 (2011) 1586–1592.
- [147] E. Reardon, Zerovalent irons: styles of corrosion and inorganic control on hydrogen pressure buildup, Environ. Sci. Technol. 39 (2005) 7311–7317.
- [148] E. Reardon, R. Fagen, J. Vogan, A. Prezepiora, Anaerobic corrosion reaction kinetics of nanosized iron, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 2420–2425.
- [149] V. Sarathy, P. Tratnyek, J. Nurmi, D. Baer, J. Amonette, C. Chun, R. Penn, E. Reardon, Aging of iron nanoparticles in aqueous solution: effects on structure and reactivity, J. Phys. Chem. C 112 (2008) 2286–2293.
- [150] K. Chen, L. Shaolin, W. Zhang, Renewable hydrogen generation by bimetallic zero valent iron nanoparticles, Chem. Eng. 170 (2011) 562–567.
- [151] http://www.nanoiron.cz/en/nzvi-tester (accessed 21.09.11).